IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,	
Plaintiff-Appellee,))
v.	S.CT. NO. 18-2116
SHANNA DESSINGER,	
Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR WEBSTER COUNTY HONORABLE ANGELA L. DOYLE, JUDGE (JURY TRIAL AND SENTENCING)

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND CONDITIONAL REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

VIDHYA K. REDDY Assistant Appellate Defender vreddy@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the court erred in admitting D.A.J.'s out-ofcourt statements over Dessinger's hearsay objection? Alternatively, did trial counsel render ineffective assistance in failing to properly object to such hearsay?

Authorities

State v. Kidd, 239 N.W.2d 860, 863 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Padgett, 300 N.W.2d 145, 146 (Iowa 1981)

Gacke v. Pork Xtra, L.L.C., 684 N.W.2d 168, 181 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Long, 628 N.W.2d 440, 447 (Iowa 2001)

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Carrillo, 597 N.W.2d 497, 500 (Iowa 1999)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c) (2017)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.802 (2017)

State v. Reynolds, 746 N.W.2d 837, 841-843 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Dullard, 668 N.W.2d 585, 590 (Iowa 2003)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(a)

State v. Mueller, 344 N.W.2d 262, 264 (Iowa Ct. App. 1983)

State v. Huser, 894 N.W.2d 472, 497 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Sowder, 394 N.W.2d 368, 371 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Nims, 357 N.W.2d 608, 609 (Iowa 1984)

II. Whether the court erred in admitting D.A.J.'s out-ofcourt statements in violation of Dessinger's Confrontation rights? Alternatively, did trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to properly object on Confrontation grounds?

Authorities

DeVoss v. State, 648 N.W.2d 56, 63 (Iowa 2002)

Jasper v. State, 477 N.W.2d 852, 856 (Iowa 1991)

State v. Rasmus, 90 N.W.2d 429, 430 (Iowa 1958)

State v. Ayers, 590 N.W.2d 25, 28 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Neiderbach, 837 N.W.2d 180, 209 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Brown, 656 N.W.2d 355, 362 (Iowa 2003)

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Carrillo, 597 N.W.2d 497, 500 (Iowa 1999)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984)

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 68 (2004)

Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 820 (2006)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

Iowa Const. art I, § 10

State v. Shipley, 757 N.W.2d 228, 235 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Bentley, 739 N.W.2d 296, 298 (Iowa 2007)

Ohio v. Clark, 135 S.Ct. 2173, 2181-2182 (2015)

State in Interest of A.R., 149 A.3d 297, 316-317 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2016)

7 Laurie Kratky Dore, *Iowa Practice Series*, *Evidence* § 5.802:2 (2016 ed.)

In re J.C., 877 N.W.2d 447, 455 (Iowa 2016)

7 Ia. Prac., Evidence § 5.802:2, n.169 (2016)

State v. Henderson, 160 P.3d 776, 785 (Kan. 2007)

State v. Siler, 876 N.E.2d 534, 541-544 (Ohio 2007)

Commonwealth v. DeOliveira, 849 N.E.2d 218, 225-226 (Mass. 2006)

State v. Cox, 781 N.W.2d 757, 761 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Holland, 389 N.W.2d 375, 379 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Dean, 332 N.W.2d 336, 339 (Iowa 1983)

State v. West, No. 15-1431, 2016 WL 5930629, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 12, 2016)

III. Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to object to improper opinion testimony from Officer Samuelson bolstering D.A.J. and Gully's credibility?

Authorities

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984)

U.S. Const. amend VI

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 556 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Carrillo, 597 N.W.2d 497, 500 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Paulsen, No. 10–1287, 2011 WL 3925699, *8 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 8, 2011)

State v. Oppedal, 232 N.W.2d 517, 524 (Iowa 1975)

State v. Myers, 382 N.W.2d 91, 94 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Brotherton, 384 N.W.2d 375, 378 (Iowa 1986)

Spahr v. State, No. 17-1681, 2019 WL 719164, *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 20, 2019)

State v. Kino Davis, No. 13–1099, 2014 WL 5243343, *6 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 15, 2014)

State v. Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531, 537-38 (Iowa 2013)

Johnson v. State, 495 N.W.2d 528, 531 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992)

State v. Tracy, 482 N.W.2d 675, 679-680 (Iowa 1992)

IV. Whether the restitution aspect of the sentence concerning court costs and correctional fees fails to comport with the requirements of <u>Albright</u> and <u>Coleman</u>?

Authorities

State v. Lathrop, 781 N.W.2d 288, 292-93 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Janz, 358 N.W.2d 547, 548-49 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 44 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a) (2017)

State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144, 158 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Sisk, 577 N.W.2d 414, 416 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791, 797 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Harrison, 351 N.W.2d 526, 529 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 615 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1)

Iowa Ct. R. 26.2(10)(a)

State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144, 160-62 (Iowa 2019)

State v. McMurry, 925 N.W.2d 592, 601 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Perry, No. 18-0351, 2019 WL 1868225, at *1 (Iowa April 26, 2019)

State v. Petty, 925 N.W.2d 190, 198 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa Code § 910.7A

Iowa Code § 910.1(4) (2017)

State v. Coleman, 907 N.W.2d 124, 149 (Iowa 2018)

Goodrich v. State, 608 N.W.2d 774, 776 (Iowa 2000)

V. Whether this appeal is affected by § 31 of Senate File 589 (concerning ineffective assistance claims), which is non-retroactive and is unconstitutional. Alternatively, if that amendment is valid and applies, whether relief for any potentially unpreserved errors should be afforded under plain error review.

Authorities

A). Not Retroactive:

S.F. 589, 88th GA, §§ 31-32 (2019)

Iowa Const. art. III, § 26

Iowa Code § 3.7(1) (2017)

Iowa Beta Chapter v. State, 763 N.W.2d 250, 266-67 (Iowa 2009)

Simberskey v. Smith, 27 Iowa 177, 178-180 (Iowa 1869)

James v. State, 479 N.W.2d 287, 290 (Iowa 1991)

Giles v. State, 511 N.W.2d 622, 624 (Iowa 1994)

Iowa Code § 4.13 (2017)

McSurely v. McGrew, 140 Iowa 163, 118 N.W. 415, 417–18 (1908)

Frink v. Clark, 285 N.W. 681, 685 (1939)

B). Not Constitutional:

(1). Separation of Powers

Planned Parenthood v. Reynolds, 915 N.W.2d 206, 212 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Const. art. V § 1

Iowa Const. art. V §, 4

Iowa Const. art. V § 6

Matter of Guardianship of Matejski, 419 N.W.2d 576, 577 (Iowa 1988)

Dunbarton Realty Co. v. Erickson, 120 N.W. 1025, 1027 (1909)

Tuttle v. Pockert, 125 N.W. 841, 842 (1910)

Brenton v. Lewiston, 236 N.W. 28, 29–30, modified, 238 N.W. 714 (Iowa 1931)

Iowa Code § 602.4102(2) (2017)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862, 875-76 (Iowa 2009)

Hensley v. Davidson Bros. Co., 112 N.W. 227, 227-28 (1907)

State v. Abrahamson, 696 N.W.2d 589, 593 (Iowa 2005)

(2). Equal Protection

Waldon v. District Court of Lee County, 130 N.W.2d 728, 731 (1964)

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I § 6

State v. Doe, 927 N.W.2d 656, 662 (2019)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862, 883 (Iowa 2009)

U.S. v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 654 (1984)

Senate Video 2019-03-28 at 1:49:10-1:49:20, statements of Senator Dawson, available at

https://www.legis.iowa.gov/dashboard?view=video&chamber= S&clip=s20190328125735925&dt=2019-03-28&offset=3054&bill=SF%20589&status=i

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 616 (Iowa 2004)

(3). Due Process and Right to Effective Appellate Counsel

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I §§ 9-10

Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 396 (1985)

C). Plain Error:

United States v. Atkinson, 297 U.S. 157, 160 (1936)

Jon M. Woodruff, Note, Plain Error by Another Name: Are Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claims a Suitable Alternative to Plain Error Review in Iowa?, 102 Iowa L. Rev. 1811, 1815 (May 2017)

Wayne R. LaFave et al., 7 Criminal Procedure, § 27.5(d) (4th ed. November 2018 update)

Tory A. Weigand, Raise or Lose: Appellate Discretion and Principled Decision-Making, 17 Suffolk J. Trial & App. Advoc. 179, 199-241 (2012)

Wiborg v. United States, 163 U.S. 632, 658 (1896)

Fed. R. Crim. P. 52 (2019)

U.S. v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732-34 (1993)

Johnson v. United States, 520 U.S. 461, 466-467 (1997)

State v. Johnson, 272 N.W.2d 480, 484 (Iowa 1978)

State v. Rinehart, 283 N.W.2d 319, 324 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Rutledge, 600 N.W.2d 324, 325 (Iowa 1999)

State v. McCright, 569 N.W.2d 605, 607 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Coil, 264 N.W.2d 293, 296 (Iowa 1978)

Rhoads v. State, 848 N.W.2d 22, 33 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Sahinovic, No. 15-0737, 2016 WL 1683039, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. April 27, 2016)

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

Iowa Const. art V, § 4

State v. Dahl, 874 N.W.2d 348, 350 (Iowa 2016)

Iowa Code § 814.20 (2017)

State v. Young, 292 N.W.2d 432, 435 (Iowa 1980)

12 Fed. Proc., L. Ed. § 33:21

United States v. Williams, 133 F.3d 1048, 1051 (7th Cir. 1998)

United States v. Hill, 749 F.3d 1250, 1251 (10th Cir. 2014)

State v. Mendoza-Lazaro, 200 P.3d 167, 170 (Or. Ct. App. 2008)

United States v. Morales, 477 F.2d 1309, 1315 (5th Cir. 1973)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Retention by the Iowa Supreme Court is appropriate because the issues raised in Divisions II and V involve substantial issues of first impression or of changing or clarifying legal principles in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c), (f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal by Defendant-Appellant Shanna Dessinger from her jury trial conviction for Child Endangerment, an Aggravated Misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code sections 726.6(1)(a) and 726.6(7).

Course of Proceedings: On July 13, 2018, the State charged Dessinger with Child Endangerment, an Aggravated Misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code sections 726.6(1)(a) and 726.6(7) (2017). (7/13/18 TI)(App. pp. 4-5). The State alleged that Dessinger had knowingly acted in a manner that created a substantial risk to then four-year-old D.A.J.'s health or safety while acting as the child's daycare provider. (5/15/18 Complaint; 7/13/18 TI)(Conf. App. pp. 4-6; App. pp.

4-5). Dessinger pled not guilty. (7/26/18 Record.Arraign.) (App. pp. 6-7).

Prior to trial, Dessinger filed a September 27, 2018 Motion in Limine concerning certain evidentiary matters as well as a challenge to the then-five-year-old complaining witness's competency to testify. First, the motion noted that the child's recent deposition answers to questions gauging his understanding of the concept of 'truth' and 'lies' was essentially 'nope', and requested the district court to make a pre-trial determination of whether the child witness was competent to testify at trial. (9/27/18 Def.Mot. Part A)(App. pp. 8-9). Second, the motion addressed concerns of hearsay, confrontation clause violations, and lack of personal knowledge among a number of State witnesses who appeared to have no first-hand knowledge of the event at issue and should thus be prohibited from testifying to statements received from others. (9/27/18 Def.Mot. ¶¶14-15, 17)(App. p. 10). Specifically, the motion noted that only the child and witness Demetria Gully claimed to have had first-hand

knowledge or witnessed the event, but that those witnesses then made statements to other persons who were themselves listed as State witnesses, implicating multiple levels of out-of-court statements none of which were admissible. (9/27/18 Def.Mot. Part B)(App. pp. 10-11).

The State filed a written response resisting the defense motion, both as to the child-witness's competency to testify, and as to the evidentiary issue concerning State witnesses' recitations of out-of-court statements received from others. In support of its resistance on the competency issue, the State submitted the deposition transcript of the child. (9/27/18 Resist.; 10/1/18 Resist. with attached Depo.)(App. pp. 12-14; Conf. App. pp. 7-29). On the matter of State witnesses' recitations of out-of-court statements received from others, the State responded generally "These are exceptions to the hearsay rule." (9/27/18 Resist.¶15)(App. p. 13).

A jury trial commenced on October 2, 2018. (Tr.1:1-25). Just prior to trial, and while outside the presence of the jury, the district court addressed the issues of D.A.J.'s competency

to testify, as well as the issue relating to witnesses' recitation of out-of-court statements received from others. (Tr.10:15-13:25). On the in limine issue concerning out-of-court statements being recited by persons who may not have firsthand knowledge, the court determined that such hearsay would not be acceptable unless a hearsay exception were to apply. (Tr.10:15-11:5). The court then addressed the matter of D.A.J.'s competency to testify, receiving the parties' arguments on that matter. (Tr.11:6-13:25). Later, during a break following selection of the jury, a hearing on the child's competency was held outside the jury's presence. At that time, the court and the parties each asked questions of the child to determine whether the standard of competency to testify as a witness was satisfied. (Tr.16:20-45:15). After questioning of the child was completed, the court determined the child was competent to testify as a witness. (Tr.45:16-46:6). Upon Defendant's motion, the court also agreed that, if the child testified at trial as a State's witness, the State should not lead the child with leading questions and should instead use open-ended questions. (Tr.47:7-48:5).

Trial then commenced in the presence of the jury at 1:00 p.m., with opening statements and presentation of evidence by the parties. The State ultimately did not call D.A.J. to testify at trial, presenting testimony only from daycare employee Demetria Gully, Officer Paul Samuelson, and daycare Director Cori Jewett. After the State rested, the Defense presented testimony from Defendant Dessinger, as well as character witness Kayleen Scott. (Tr.2:1-25, 126:22-25, 180:25). No rebuttal evidence was presented by the State. (Tr.181:1-6). The parties presented their closing arguments to the jury, and the jury then commenced its deliberations at 4:55 p.m. (Tr. 184:11-14, 201:6-7). The jury deliberated for about three hours that evening (October 2) without reaching a decision. At about 7:58 p.m., the jury was sent home for the evening with directions to return at 9:00 a.m. the following day to continue its deliberations. (Tr.201:10-202:8). At 10:18 a.m. the following day (October 3), the jury rendered a verdict finding

Dessinger guilty of Child Endangerment as charged. (Verdict Tr.2:1-3:17); (10/3/18 Verdict)(App. p. 16).

A sentencing hearing was held on November 19, 2018. At that time, the district court entered judgment against Dessinger for Child Endangerment, an Aggravated Misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code sections 726.6(1)(a) and 726.6(7) (2017). The court sentenced Dessinger to 365 days in Webster County Jail, with all but 30 days suspended with authorization for work-release and school-release as permitted by the Jail, and placed Dessinger on informal probation for a period of one year. The court also imposed a \$625 fine and 35% surcharge, and directed Dessinger to submit a DNA sample for profiling. The court ordered Dessinger to pay "the court costs of this action." The court then inquired into whether Dessinger had an ability to pay court-appointed attorney fees; the court found Dessinger had no ability to pay such attorney fees, and thus ordered attorney fee reimbursement of \$0. (Sent.19:5-20:12); (Exh.A-C; Sent.Order)(Conf. App. p. 31; App. pp. 17-22). The sentencing order directed financial obligations to be paid within 30 days. (Sent.Order¶¶4(a), 4(c)(2)) (App. pp. 19, 21). Additionally, the paragraph prescribing Dessinger's jail sentence included a statement that: "Defendant shall pay fees as later assessed for... room and board" and "The actual amount assessed will be as set forth in the Room & Board Reimbursement Claim filed with the Clerk by the Sheriff" which "amount assessed shall have the force and effect of a judgment for purposes of enforcement" unless Defendant affirmatively requests a hearing to dispute the amount assessed. (Sent.Order¶4(b)) (App. p. 20).

Dessinger filed a Notice of Appeal on December 12, 2018. (12/10/18 NOA)(App. p. 23).

Facts: In May 2018, Defendant Shanna Dessinger worked as a child care provider at Tracey's Tots, a daycare facility in Fort Dodge, Iowa. She had worked there for approximately five months, since January 2018. Dessinger was also then-employed as a food service worker at the Fort Dodge Senior High School, where she would prepare food and

at Tracey's Tots on the recommendation of another Tracey's employee (Tammy) who had worked with her at the senior high school. Dessinger typically worked at the high school until 1:00 p.m., and then worked at the daycare from 2:00 p.m. until 5:00 or 6:00 p.m. (Tr.103:23-105:2, 131:17-133 L.13).

The instant prosecution arises out of an alleged May 9, 2018 incident at the daycare. The State alleged that, on that date, another employee of Tracey's Tots (17-year-old Dametria Gully) glanced through an interior window and observed Dessinger reach out her hand and intentionally choke and then push down four-year-old D.A.J., one of the children that was under Dessinger's care in the preschool room of the facility. (Tr.62:2-63:5, 67:3-68:3, 82:1-9). Dessinger testified at trial, and denied that any such choking incident or other assaultive act had occurred. But Dessinger did acknowledge that, while trying to help D.A.J. take off a dress-up apron, Dessinger stumbled against a bookcase and, in the process of catching herself, may have accidentally knocked the child

over. (Tr.152:7-158:16, 161:2-13, 165:6-166:23, 168:20-22). No physical injuries were ever visible on the child. (Tr.75:17-24, 78:19-22, 96:20-97:24, 107:24-108:1). Of the State's witnesses, only D.A.J. and Gully claimed to have actually observed the incident, and only Gully (not D.A.J.) testified at trial. (Tr.2:1-25, 111:18-25). The defense urged that Gully was incorrect in what she believed she observed, namely that she mistook Dessinger's accidental stumble and bumping of the child as an intentional assault of choking and pushing the child down. (Tr.53:17-59:9, 189:13-198:19).

Gully was seventeen years old, in high school, and worked at Tracey's Tot's part-time. She was new to the daycare, having started only the day prior to the May 9 incident. Although employment records confirmed May 9 was actually her second day of work, Gully testified that she was "sure" it was her first and not her second day. (Tr.60:8-62:1, 109:9-20).

On May 9, Dessinger worked in the preschool room, while Gully and another provider (Kelli) worked in the two-year-old

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