IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 18-2116

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

SHANNA DESSINGER,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR WEBSTER COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE ANGELA L. DOYLE, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**KYLE HANSON**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
(515) 281-4902 (fax)  
[kyle.hanson@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:kyle.hanson@ag.iowa.gov)

DARREN D. DRISCOLL  
Webster County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

Dessinger complains that the district court erroneously admitted D.A.J.’s out-of-court demonstration of how she grabbed him around the throat and strangled him. Def. Proof Br. at 53–59. This Court has found that a young child’s demonstration can constitute hearsay if it intended to assert what the child had seen. *State v. Galvan*, 297 N.W.2d 344, 346 (Iowa 1980); *see also* Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(a)(2) (defining a hearsay “statement” to include “nonverbal conduct, if intended as an assertion”).

However, a finding that D.A.J.’s demonstration constituted hearsay was only the first step in the analysis. Regardless of whether error was preserved or unpreserved, this Court must proceed to the next steps of the analysis. If error was preserved, the demonstration was admissible under established hearsay exceptions. If error was not preserved, counsel had no professional obligation to object to admissible hearsay.

**A. The child’s demonstration was admissible as a present sense impression.**

The hearsay exception for a present sense impression permits “[a] statement describing or explaining an event or condition, made while or immediately after the declarant perceived it.” Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(1). “The underlying theory of this exception is that substantial contemporaneity of event and statement negate the likelihood of deliberate or conscious misrepresentation.” *Fratzke v. Meyer*, 398 N.W.2d 200, 205 (Iowa Ct. App. 1986) (citations omitted). The Court has noted that Professor McCormick “argues that the phrase ‘immediately thereafter’ should be ‘interpreted to mean a time within which, under the conditions, it is unlikely that the declarant had an opportunity to form a purpose to misstate his observations. . . .’” *Id.* (quoting McCormick, *Evidence* § 298 at 710–11). The Court has

found that a time lapse of fifteen to twenty minutes was “substantially contemporaneous” to fall within the exception for present sense impressions. *Id.*

The record supports that D.A.J.’s demonstration was a present sense impression. Gully immediately reported Dessinger’s abusive conduct to daycare director Jewett: “As soon as I noticed what was happening, I went and informed Cori about what was going on.” Trial Tr. p. 72, line 20 – p. 73, line 3. Jewett then went to the preschool room and dismissed Dessinger, explaining that the safety of the children made it “important for [Dessinger] to be removed immediately.” Trial Tr. p. 106, line 11 – p. 107, line 8. D.A.J. then demonstrated how Dessinger grabbed him by the neck. Trial Tr. p. 89, line 15 – p. 90, line 16, p. 112, line 1 – p. 113, line 15. Before Jewett even had time to attempt calling D.A.J.’s parents about the incident, his father arrived and heard D.A.J.’s description of the incident. Trial Tr. p. 113, line 19 – p. 114, line 10.

D.A.J.’s demonstration was sufficiently contemporaneous to constitute a present sense impression. Gully immediately reported the abuse to Jewett, Jewett acted to immediately remove Dessinger from the daycare, and D.A.J. gave his demonstration before Jewett

could even call his parents. The brief passage of time and D.A.J.'s tender age made it unlikely that he had time to fabricate the demonstration, so his nonverbal conduct was admissible as a present sense impression. Counsel had no professional obligation to object to admissible hearsay.

**B. The child's demonstration was admissible as an excited utterance.**

The hearsay exception for an excited utterance permits “[a] statement relating to a startling event or condition, made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement that it caused.” Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(2). “The rationale behind the exception is that statements made under the stress of excitement are less likely to involve deception than if made upon reflection or deliberation.” *State v. Harper*, 770 N.W.2d 316, 319 (Iowa 2009) (quoting *State v. Tejada*, 677 N.W.2d 744, 753 (Iowa 2004)).

In determining whether a statement qualifies as an excited utterance, the trial court should consider: “(1) the time lapse between the event and the statement, (2) the extent to which questioning elicited the statements that otherwise would not have been volunteered, (3) the age and condition of the declarant, (4) the characteristics of the event being described, and (5) the subject matter of the statement.”

*Id.* (quoting *State v. Atwood*, 602 N.W.2d 775, 782 (Iowa 1999)).

The record supports that D.A.J.’s demonstration was an excited utterance. He was grabbed by the neck and pushed down by his daycare teacher (Trial Tr. p. 67, lines 6–23), which was a highly startling event for a 4-year-old child. He reacted to the abusive conduct with great excitement—he began repeatedly screaming “I’m sorry, I’m sorry, I’m sorry,” his cries were so loud they could be heard from the office, and he was still whimpering and sitting by himself in the corner when Jewett arrived. Trial Tr. p. 68, line 16 – p. 69, line 8, p. 108, line 2 – p. 109, line 8. And his demonstration of being grabbed by the neck pertained directly to the startling event that caused his excitement. Trial Tr. p. 89, line 15 – p. 90, line 16, p. 112, line 1 – p. 113, line 15.

D.A.J.’s demonstration, made under the stress of the startling event, qualified as an excited utterance. He was abused by a trusted authority figure, he reacted with strong emotion, and within a short time reported what had caused his excited state. Because his nonverbal demonstration was admissible as an excited utterance, trial counsel had no obligation to object to the admissible hearsay.

**C. The parents' brief report to police was non-hearsay offered to explain the officer's subsequent conduct.**

Not all out-of-court statements are hearsay. Rather, the rule defines hearsay as an out-of-court statement that “[a] party offers into evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted in the statement.” Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c). “When an out-of-court statement is offered, not to show the truth of the matter asserted but to explain responsive conduct, it is not regarded as hearsay.” *State v. Mitchell*, 450 N.W.2d 828, 832 (Iowa 1990).

The report from D.A.J.'s parents to the police was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. The parents told Officer Samuelson that “their child was at Tracey's Tots, goes there for daycare, and the child had been picked up and then put down.” Trial Tr. p. 95, lines 12–17. The officer explained that “based on that report” he undertook an investigation that included examining the child for injuries, interviewing the daycare workers, and taking a statement from Dessinger. Trial Tr. p. 95, line 18 – p. 96, line 24.

The parents' report to Officer Samuelson was admissible for non-hearsay purposes. Questioning the adequacy of the police investigation is a common avenue of attack in criminal cases, so a

brief description of the parents’ report helped explain why Officer Samuelson took certain investigative steps. And the vagueness of the parents’ report—that D.A.J. “had been picked up and then put down”—shows that the State was not offering the statement to prove what happened to the child. If anything, the parents’ brief report to the officer was harmlessly cumulative to the much more detailed in-court testimony from eyewitness Gully. Therefore, counsel had no obligation to object to the non-hearsay testimony, and objecting to the vague statement would not have changed the outcome of trial.

**D. Any error was nonprejudicial.**

For the unpreserved hearsay objections, Dessinger bears the burden to prove a reasonable likelihood of a different result. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694 (“The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.”). And even if he had preserved error with timely and specific objections, reversal is not required in cases of nonconstitutional error<sup>1</sup> unless it appears

---

<sup>1</sup> Dessinger erroneously invokes the standard for constitutional error, which requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was harmless. *See* Def. Proof Br. at 59–60 (citing *State v. Sowder*, 394 N.W.2d 368, 372 (Iowa 1986)). Although *Sowder* was a hearsay case, it cited *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 23–24 (1967),

“that the rights of the complaining party have been injuriously affected by the error or that he has suffered a miscarriage of justice.” *State v. Henderson*, 696 N.W.2d 5, 12 (Iowa 2005); *see also* Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a) (“A party may claim error in a ruling to admit or exclude evidence *only if the error affects a substantial right of the party . . .*” (emphasis added)). Admission of D.A.J.’s demonstration was nonprejudicial in light the detailed eyewitness testimony of the abuse, the child’s reaction to the abuse, and Dessinger’s inconsistent testimony.

First, D.A.J.’s demonstration was cumulative to Gully’s unwavering testimony. Gully described watching Dessinger grab 4-year-old D.A.J. by the neck, squeeze, and shove him to the ground. Trial Tr. p. 67, line 6 – p. 68, line 1. She was “absolutely sure” about what she saw. Trial Tr. p. 68, lines 2–3. She had an “absolutely clear view of this incident.” Trial Tr. p. 68, lines 4–6. There was no chance that it was an accident or that Dessinger only bumped into him or knocked him over. Trial Tr. p. 68, lines 7–12. Gully was “absolutely

---

which fashioned a “harmless-constitutional-error rule.” *Chapman*, 386 U.S. at 22. In more recent hearsay cases, the Iowa Supreme Court has applied the more lenient non-constitutional error standard. *See, e.g., State v. Newell*, 710 N.W.2d 6, 19 (Iowa 2006) (citing Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a)).

positive” that Dessinger grabbed D.A.J. by the neck and “choked” him. Trial Tr. p. 68, lines 13–15. She affirmed that there was no doubt in her mind and that she was not mistaken about the assault. Trial Tr. p. 72, lines 13–19. She could see “exactly what was going on” and “It was no accident.” Trial Tr. p. 75, lines 11–13. Her view through the window was unobscured, she was not distracted by anything else, and she observed the assault “clearly.” Trial Tr. p. 85, line 6 – p. 86, line 15. This unequivocal testimony established the intent of Dessinger’s actions, so D.A.J.’s out-of-court demonstration was not essential to support the conviction.

Second, D.A.J.’s emotional response corroborated that he was assaulted. After being choked, Gully heard the 4-year-old begin crying and screaming “I’m sorry, I’m sorry, I’m sorry” over and over. Trial Tr. p. 68, line 18 – p. 69, line 5. Likewise, Jewett could hear crying all the way in the office. Trial Tr. p. 108, lines 2–12. And when Jewett got to the preschool room, D.A.J. was whimpering by himself in the corner, which was a change from his normal high-spirited attitude. Trial Tr. p. 108, line 13 – p. 109, line 8. Because D.A.J.’s screaming apology and loud crying was not consistent with an

accidental bump, the jury would rely on his reaction to corroborate Gully's testimony even without his out-of-court demonstration.

Third, Dessinger presented unpersuasive, contradictory testimony:

- Dessinger gave an equivocal explanation about what happened to D.A.J. She could only say that he “might have” fallen over or that “it’s possible” she knocked him over, but she could not remember. Trial Tr. p. 156, lines 16–19, p. 166, lines 11–14.
- Dessinger’s poor attitude revealed her mindset during the incident. She was having a “hard day” and seemed overwhelmed. Trial Tr. p. 65, line 20 – p. 66, line 2. When she was confronted on the playground about not stopping a preschooler from climbing on the fence, Dessinger responded that “she didn't care what they were doing because she was quitting after today.” Trial Tr. p. 64, line 17 – p. 65, line 4. The assault against D.A.J. occurred just 15 minutes later. Trial Tr. p. 66, line 17 – p. 67, line 5.
- Dessinger was inconsistent about being frustrated. Although she admitted that she was frustrated on the playground by the child who would not listen, she insisted that she was not frustrated by

D.A.J. and the other children ignoring her inside. Trial Tr. p. 151, line 18 – p. 152, line 6, p. 168, line 23 – p. 169, line 18.

- Dessinger contradicted other evidence about where she was standing. Gully used a photograph to explain where Dessinger was standing when she assaulted D.A.J. Trial Tr. p. 69, line 11 – p. 72, line 7, State’s Ex. 1 (photo); App. 15. Dessinger, however, claimed she never stood in that place at any point “throughout the whole day.” Trial Tr. p. 163, line 24 – p. 164, line 9.
- Dessinger gave inconsistent testimony about D.A.J.’s reaction to the abuse. Gully and Jewett described D.A.J. crying and screaming after the assault. Trial Tr. p. 68, line 18 – p. 69, line, p. 108, line 2 – p. 109, line 8. But Dessinger denied hearing any screaming or yelling and said D.A.J. “appeared to be fine.” Trial Tr. p. 158, lines 1–10.
- Dessinger did not present a plausible theory why other witnesses would lie. She suggested Gully “could have” been mistaken about what she saw. Trial Tr. p. 161, line 24 – p. 162, line 4. However, Gully was unflinching when testifying, “It was no accident.” Trial Tr. p. 75, lines 11–13.

The jury was free to rely on the inconsistency of Dessinger's testimony to disbelieve her story and credit Gully's consistent and unequivocal testimony.

Dessinger does not deserve a new trial. Based on the strength of the evidence, there is no reasonable probability of a different result had counsel objected to D.A.J.'s demonstration. And even if the Court finds error was preserved, D.A.J.'s demonstration was harmlessly cumulative to other convincing proof of guilt. Therefore, this Court should affirm Dessinger's convictions regardless of whether error was preserved.

**II. Dessinger Failed to Preserve Her Confrontation Challenge, and Trial Counsel Did Not Have to Object Because the Young Victim's Demonstration to Daycare Teachers Was Nontestimonial.**

**Preservation of Error**

Dessinger did not preserve a confrontation challenge because she did not raise such an objection at trial. Although the defense made hearsay objections to some of D.A.J.'s out-of-court statements, those objections never addressed the Confrontation Clause. A hearsay objection does not preserve a confrontation argument. *See, e.g., State v. Schaer*, 757 N.W.2d 630, 634–35 (Iowa 2008) (finding the defendant's hearsay objection at trial “did not renew a

confrontation objection” raised in a motion in limine); *State v. Tangie*, 616 N.W.2d 564, 568–69 (Iowa 2000) (finding the defendant’s hearsay objection at trial failed to preserve her Confrontation Clause argument); *State v. Nelson*, 329 N.W.2d 643, 645–46 (Iowa 1983) (“An objection in trial court based on hearsay does not preserve an issue of a constitutional right of confrontation for an appellate court.”); *State v. Farni*, 325 N.W.2d 107, 109 (Iowa 1982) (“The objection that the question ‘calls for hearsay’ is too broad to raise the issue of constitutional right of confrontation.”).

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